STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Mar 12 2024

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr.
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2023-001043

Megan Scott,

Appellant,

v.

Estate of Jonathan Bruner,

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jesse Sanchez (S.C. Bar # 101906)
The Law Office of Jesse Sanchez, LLC
751 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Suite 200
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
(843) 814-8181

Jason Scott Stevens (S.C. Bar # 79076)
The Law Office of Jason S. Stevens, LLC
215 East Bay Street, Suite 500-H
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 789-3620

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT APPELLANT’S CLAIM THAT DECEDENT GIFTED AND/OR TRANSFERRED CO-OWNERSHIP OF THE SUBJECT DOG TO APPELLANT DURING DECEDENT’S LIFETIME?

- II. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT A VETERINARY CLINIC FORM SIGNED BY DECEDENT, SPECIFICALLY IDENTIFYING APPELLANT AS CO-OWNER OF THE SUBJECT DOG, CONSTITUTES IMPERMISSIBLE HEARSAY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case concerns the rightful ownership of a dog, a beloved golden doodle named Evie (hereinafter referred to as “Evie”). The Appellant, Megan Scott, asserts that she co-owned the dog with Jonathan Bruner (hereinafter referred to as “Decedent”), her late boyfriend with whom she shared a home in Charleston County, South Carolina.

Decedent died intestate on May 5, 2022. As a result, Decedent’s father, who lives in Las Vegas, Nevada, was named personal representative of the estate, (hereinafter referred to as “Respondent”). After Decedent’s untimely death, Respondent travelled to Charleston, South Carolina to wrap up Decedent’s affairs and gather personal property that Decedent left behind. This included achievement medals and mementos from his time as service member, and other possessions, all of which Ms. Scott readily provided. To Ms. Scott’s dismay, however, Respondent also demanded possession of Evie. Respondent, a Nevada resident, had never lived with Evie, nor had he even met the dog, but now claimed she had become his possession as a result of Decedent’s death. Ms. Scott, as the dog’s co-owner, refused Respondent’s demand.

On May 18, 2022, Respondent filed a Claim and Delivery action for possession of personal property, wherein he sought possession of Evie. (See Exhibit #1 to Magistrate’s Return of Civil Appeal, filed February 7, 2023, R. at p. 14).¹ In his Affidavit, Respondent claimed Evie had legally become his possession as a result of Decedent’s passing. Ms. Scott was served with the Claim and Delivery Petition and an Order of Seizure for Immediate Delivery of Property on May 21, 2022. (Exhibit #2, R. p. 27).

¹ The Magistrates’ Return of Civil Appeal, filed with the Circuit Court on February 7, 2023, provides a record of all papers filed in Magistrate Court. For purposes of this Final Brief, Exhibit numbers referenced herein correlate to the Exhibits contained in the Magistrates’ Return.

On May 25, 2022, Ms. Scott filed her Answer, Affidavit of Defendant, and/or in the Alternative, Request for Post-Seizure Hearing. (Exhibit #3, R. pp. 29-36). Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 22-3-1440, she then supplied the Court with a bond of \$3,000.00, double the value reported in Respondent's petition. (Exhibit #4, R. pp. 37-39). At the hearing, Ms. Scott was awarded possession of the dog, considered property under our laws, pending trial or settlement negotiations.

The trial was held in the magistrate court on July 16, 2022. Ms. Scott, a pharmacist with means of caring for Evie, presented evidence and testimony establishing her contributions to the dog's care, including providing daily exercise, daily feeding, coordinating care based on her and Decedent's respective work and school schedules, and providing all other basic needs for the dog. (See Order, Exhibit #7, R. pp. 56-65). Ms. Scott also submitted paperwork from Evie's veterinarian, West Ashley Veterinarian Clinic, **including a signed document wherein Decedent himself specifically identified Ms. Scott as the dog's co-owner.** (Exhibit #6, R. p. 43). The form specifically asks: "Please list the individuals whom you authorize to make medical decisions for your pet." The Decedent then—in his own handwriting—wrote: "Owners₂" [Plural, Emphasis Added]. Megan Scott is expressly identified as the dog's *co-owner* on the form. Ms. Scott's phone number is expressly listed under "Co-Owner's Phone #." The address she shared with Decedent is listed under both their names. (Ibid., R. p. 43). The Decedent's signature, acknowledging all of the above, appears on the form. (Ibid., R. p. 43).

In support of her ownership claim, Ms. Scott's trial counsel argued that Ms. Scott's ownership interest had been established during Decedent's life, and that as result, she remained the rightful owner of the dog at the time of Decedent's death. (Exhibit #8, R. pp. 68-72). Respondent's trial counsel conceded that "it is possible for one to effect a transfer of title

and/ownership of property prior to one's death without the use of [a] will or other estate planning device," but that the transfer of that title and/or ownership "must be clear, obvious, and unambiguous," intimating that Ms. Scott could not claim an ownership interest in Evie without a "bill of sale, contract, or other writing that provides for clear and unambiguous transfer of property." (Exhibit #9 at R. p. 76). In an effort to circumvent Decedent's clear and unambiguous identification of Ms. Scott as Evie's co-owner, Respondent then attempted to characterize the document as merely an indication that Decedent wished to list Ms. Scott as "an additional point of contact with the West Ashley Veterinary Clinic." (Exhibit #9 at R. p. 76). Respondent, however, could offer no evidence to establish this was in fact Decedent's intent.

On July 6, 2022, the magistrate court entered an order finding that Decedent had died intestate; that Ms. Scott's ownership interest cannot be proven without a will or codicil; that Decedent's express written identification of Ms. Scott as a co-owner on the veterinary form "does not suffice to prove ownership;" that the dog was solely owned by Decedent at death; and that Respondent is entitled to the possession of the dog. (Exhibit # 7, R. pp. 56-64).

On July 7, 2022, Ms. Scott filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment or in the Alternative Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Stay Judgment Pending Appeal. (Exhibit # 8, R. pp. 68-72). On July 19, 2022, Respondent filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. (Exhibit #9, R. pp. 74-82). On July 20, 2022, Ms. Scott responded to Respondent's Memo in Opposition and filed a Memorandum in Support of her Motion. (Exhibit #10, R. pp. 83-88).

The magistrate court heard Ms. Scott's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on July 20, 2022. The court then entered an Amended Order in Response to Defendants' Motion to Amend Judgment wherein it issued additional findings of fact, finding that "Decedent's action of

identifying the Defendant as a co-owner on the West Ashley Veterinarian Clinic form does not suffice to prove transfer of ownership.” (Exhibit #11, R. pp. 89-91). In support of this finding, the court noted that the veterinarian’s practice manager testified that “for routine visits to be accepted by someone other than the actual owner of the dog, they must appear on veterinary forms so the veterinary office itself is relieved of the liabilities that come with treating someone’s animal without the owner’s consent.” (Ibid., at R. pp. 89-90). The Circuit Court, however, failed to identify *any* evidence demonstrating that this was Decedent’s intent when he specifically named and identified Ms. Scott as Evie’s co-owner on the veterinary form.

The Court then found that, having heard Defendant’s testimony, it “does not find a preponderance of evidence that Decedent ever intended to gift the property to Defendant,” and that “the facts of this case do not suggest at any point that Decedent was seeking to relinquish ownership of the property.” (Ibid., at R. p. 90).

Ms. Scott filed a Notice of Appeal to the Circuit Court on August, 2022. (Exhibit # 12, R. pp. 92-93). On February 7, 2023, the Magistrate filed Magistrate’s Return of Civil Appeal as required by Rule 74, SCRPC. (R. pp. 12 - 120).

On March 7, 2023, counsel for Ms. Scott received notice from the Charleston County Clerk of Court that a hearing on the Appeal was scheduled before The Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr., for April 5, 2023. (Notice, R. p. 188). The notice specifically stated, “Memos and Briefs are to be submitted via e-filing prior to the week of term.” (Notice, R. p. 188).

Pursuant to the Court’s instructions, Ms. Scott’s counsel e-filed Appellant’s Brief in Support of Appeal prior to the week of term on March 31, 2023, and emailed a copy to the Court and counsel for Respondent. (R. pp. 121-129). A hearing was then held on April 5, 2023. (Transcript, R. pp. 248 - 266). Respondent, however, did not file an appellate brief prior to the

hearing and instead asked the court for leave to file his brief ten days *after* the hearing was held. (Transcript, R. pp. 248-266). Respondent ultimately filed his Brief in Opposition on April 14, 2023. (R. pp. 130-156). On that same day, Counsel for Ms. Scott' counsel requested an opportunity to submit a short reply in response to Respondent's late-filed Brief. On April 17, 2023, the Court advised counsel that Appellant was allowed to submit a reply by April 20, 2023. Ms. Scott filed her Reply Brief on April 20, 2023. (R. pp. 157-177).

On June 27, 2023, the Circuit Court entered its *Order on Appeal from Final Order of Magistrate*, affirming the Magistrate Court's Final Order, finding that Respondent is entitled to sole, exclusive title and possession of the subject dog and property at issue, Evie, and ordering Ms. Scott to transfer Evie to the custody of Respondent, the Personal Representative of Decedent's Estate, within ten (10) days of entry of the Order. (Order, R. pp. 1-8). Of relevance to this appeal, the Court found (1) that the Veterinary Clinic Form signed by Decedent, specifically identifying Appellant as co-owner of the subject dog, and admitted at trial below, constitutes impermissible hearsay, (2) that the evidence in this case does not support Appellant's claim that Decedent gifted and/or transferred co-ownership of the subject dog to Ms. Scott during Decedent's lifetime," and that as a result, the dog had automatically transferred to Respondent upon Decedent's death. (Order at R. pp. 4-6).

On June 27, 2023, Ms. Scott timely served and filed a Notice of Appeal with the Circuit Court and South Carolina Court of Appeals, and immediately filed a Petition for Emergency Order of Supersedeas with the Circuit Court pursuant to Rule 241(c), SCACR. (Notice of Appeal, R. pp. 178-187; Petition, R. pp. 189-198). Ms. Scott's Petition asserted, *inter alia*, that a stay was necessary to preserve the Court's jurisdiction and prevent a contested issue from becoming moot, noting that subject Order commands Ms. Scott to transfer Evie to an out-of-state

Respondent, located 2,300 miles away in Las Vegas, Nevada, outside the jurisdiction of South Carolina Courts. (Ibid, R. pp. 189-198). Respondent filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Petition on July 3, 2023. (Memo, R. pp. 199-203). Appellant then filed a Reply on July 3, 2023, further noting that Respondent has no personal or business ties to the State of South Carolina, and no reason to ever return should he come in possession of the dog, which, again, he had never met nor provided care for at any time prior to or since Decedent's death. (Reply, R. pp. 204-206). On July 5, 2023, the Circuit Court entered an Order denying Appellant's Petition for Emergency Order of Supersedeas. (Order, R. pp. 9-11).

Appellant immediately filed an Emergency Petition for Ex Parte Order of Supersedeas with the South Carolina Court of Appeals. (Petition, R. pp. 207-230). Respondent filed a Return on July 6, 2023. (Return, R. pp. 231-236). Appellant then filed a Reply to the Return on July 7, 2023. (Reply, R. pp. 237-241). That same day, the Court of Appeals entered an Order granting Appellant's request that the Circuit Court's order be stayed during the pendency of the appeal, and requiring that Appellant maintain a \$3,000.00 bond and provide the Court with proof of the same. (Order, R. pp. 246-247). The Court, having already received a Return from Respondent, denied Appellant's request that the motion be considered *ex parte*. (Order, R. pp. 246-247). Appellant provided confirmation of bond renewal that very day. (Letter to Court w/ Proof of Bond, R. p. 242-245). This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In cases originating in Magistrate's Court, South Carolina Code Ann. § 18-7-170 applies. Section 18-7-170 provides: "Upon hearing the appeal the appellate court shall give judgment according to the justice of the case without regard to technical errors or defects which do not affect the merits. In giving judgment the court may affirm or reverse the judgment of the court

below, in whole or in part, as to any or all the parties and for errors of law or fact.”

On appeal from a Circuit Court’s affirmance of a magistrate’s order, the Court of Appeals will presume that an affirmance by a Circuit Court of a magistrate’s judgment was made upon the merits where the testimony is sufficient to sustain the magistrate’s judgment and there are no facts that show the affirmance was influenced by an error of law. *Hadfield v. Gilchrist*, 343 S.C. 88, 538 S.E.2d 268 (Ct. App. 2000). On a subsequent appeal from the Circuit Court, the appellate court will look to whether the Circuit Court order is controlled by an error of law or is unsupported by the facts. *Parks v. Characters Night Club*, 548 S.E.2d 605, 345 S.C. 484, 490 (Ct. App. 2001).

ARGUMENT

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT APPELLANT’S CLAIM THAT DECEDENT GIFTED AND/OR TRANSFERRED CO-OWNERSHIP OF THE SUBJECT DOG TO APPELLANT DURING HIS LIFETIME.

The evidence in this case establishes that Ms. Scott co-owned the dog with the Decedent at the time of his death. As set forth in the Statement of the Case, *supra*, Ms. Scott submitted a Veterinary Clinic Form at trial, wherein the Decedent himself specifically identified Ms. Scott as the dog’s co-owner. (Exhibit #6, R. p. 43). The form specifically asks: “Please list the individuals whom you authorize to make medical decisions for your pet.” The Decedent then—in his own handwriting—wrote: “Owners” [Plural, Emphasis Added]. Megan Scott is expressly identified as the dog’s *co-owner* on the form. Ms. Scott’s phone number is expressly listed under “Co-Owner’s Phone #.” The address she shared with Decedent is listed under both their names. (Ibid, R. p. 43). The Decedent’s signature, acknowledging all of the above, appears on the form.

“A person who **signs** a contract **or other written document cannot avoid the effect of the document** by claiming he did not read it.” *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 582 S.E.2d 432, 354 S.C.

648 (Ct. App. 2003), citing *Sims v. Tyler*, 276 S.C. 640, 643, 281 S.E.2d 229, 230 (1981). **A person signing a document is responsible for reading the document and making sure of its contents.** *Id.* Here, the Respondent cannot avoid the effect of a written document, signed by the Decedent, specifically identifying Ms. Scott as co-owner of the dog. Respondent's contention that "there is no way to truly determine Decedent's intentions" is completely undermined by Decedent's own hand-written entries on the subject form.

This Court need not speculate as to what Decedent's intentions were, because they are expressly stated in his own handwriting in a document that he signed and filed with the dog's veterinary clinic. The Circuit Court's finding that "the evidence does not support Appellant's claim that the Decedent gifted or otherwise transferred co-ownership of the subject dog" is unsupported by the facts in this case. Accordingly, Appellant respectfully requests that this Honorable Court grant her appeal, reverse the Circuit Court's order, and give effect to Decedent's express, written acknowledgment that Ms. Scott is the rightful owner of this beloved and well-cared-for dog.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE VETERINARY CLINIC FORM SIGNED BY DECEDENT, SPECIFICALLY IDENTIFYING APPELLANT AS CO-OWNER OF THE SUBJECT DOG, CONSTITUTES IMPERMISSIBLE HEARSAY.

The Veterinary Clinic Form is part of the trial record, properly admitted at trial, and does not constitute impermissible hearsay. (Exhibit #6, R. p. 43). The Circuit Court's order errs in accepting Respondent's view that the subject form, signed by Decedent himself, and maintained as part of the Veterinary Clinic's normal business records, is somehow not competent evidence. (Order, at R. pp. 4-6). This is an error of law, which this Honorable Court has authority to correct on appeal. See *Parks v. Characters Night Club*, 548 S.E.2d 605, 345 S.C. 484, 490 (Ct.

App. 2001), noting, the appellate court will look to whether the Circuit Court order is controlled by an error of law or is unsupported by the facts.

Here, the Veterinary Clinic form was properly admissible under Rules 804(a)(4) and 804(b)(3) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. Rule 804, SCRE addresses hearsay exceptions where the declarant is unavailable. Rule 804(a)(4) states, ““Unavailability as a witness includes situations where the declarant is unable to be present to testify at the hearing *because of death* or then existing physical or mental illness or infirmity.” [Emphasis added]. Clearly, Decedent could not be present at trial because of his untimely death. Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE, sets forth the applicable exception to the Hearsay Rule, stating that a statement which is at the time of its making contrary to the declarant’s pecuniary *or proprietary interest*, that a reasonable person in declarant’s position would not have made unless believing the statement to be true, is not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is unavailable as a witness:

Hearsay Exceptions. The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is unavailable as a witness. (4) Statement Against Interest. A statement which was at the time of its making so far contrary to the declarant's pecuniary or *proprietary* interest, or so far tended to subject the declarant to civil or criminal liability, or to render invalid a claim by the declarant against another, that a reasonable person in the declarant's position would not have made the statement unless believing it to be true.

Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE

The declaration-against-interest exception of the hearsay rule is well established. It proceeds from a realization of the necessity for such evidence as well as an underlying presumption that the evidence is trustworthy. The trustworthiness element is derived from the presumption that a statement against the proprietary interests of the declarant would not have

been expressed by him unless he believes it to be true. *See Matthias, Ronald S. (1980) "Evidence," South Carolina Law Review: Vol. 32: Iss. 1, Article 9.*

Here, the Veterinary Clinic Form was competent evidence and properly admitted at trial because (1) Decedent was unavailable because of death, (2) the statements were against his proprietary interest in the dog, and (3) a reasonable person in declarant's position would not have made the statement unless believing it to be true. The Circuit Court's Order misconstrues the law, erroneously finding that this official form, signed by the Decedent himself, and maintained as part of the veterinary clinic's normal business records, constitutes impermissible hearsay. Accordingly, Appellant respectfully requests that this Honorable Court grant her appeal, reverse the Circuit Court's order, and find that Appellant is the rightful owner of this beloved dog, for whom she continues to provide unconditional love and care.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant respectfully requests that this Honorable Court grant her appeal, reverse the lower court's order, and find that she is the rightful owner of this goldendoodle named Evie. It was error for the Circuit Court to find that the evidence does not support Ms. Scott's claim of ownership. It was also error for the Court to find that the veterinary clinic form signed by Decedent, and specifically identifying Appellant as Co-owner of the Subject dog, constitutes impermissible hearsay, particularly where (1) Decedent was unavailable because of death, (2) the statements were against his proprietary interest in the dog, and (3) a reasonable person in declarant's position would not have made the statement unless believing it to be true.