**RECEIVED**

**Dec 20 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

The Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr.,  
Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001043

---

Megan Scott, .....Appellant,

v.

Estate of Jonathan Bruner, .....Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

CORVEY LAW FIRM, LLC  
Edward R. "Ted" Corvey, III (SC Bar No. 101454)  
Kyra A. McMillan (SC Bar No. 102156)  
815 Savannah Highway, Suite 201  
Charleston, South Carolina, 29405  
P: 843-625-8600  
F: 843-625-8601  
*Attorneys for Respondent*

**

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

Notwithstanding, the paperwork which Appellant attempts to cite as evidence of ownership does not have the effect Appellant maintains it does. It is not in question that, at the time that the standard "New Client Form" was completed, the Decedent and Appellant were residing together with the subject dog of interest. However, it is baseless to assert that when Decedent listed Appellant as a point of contact in the only space on the form Decedent could, that he intended to declare she had some form of legal ownership of the dog.

Aside from the fact that there is no way to truly determine Decedent's intentions from this paperwork, there is no legal basis which establishes that authority should be given to a form document, with no binding legal effect, to evidence ownership of the subject dog of interest. Appellant broadly opines that the Decedent "gifted and/or transferred co-ownership of the subject dog to Appellant" through this form. Appellant does not, because Appellant cannot, provide in her argument what type of instrument the "New Client Form" purports to be... i.e., a contract. This is a critical issue because while Appellant attempts to give the "New Client Form" legal effect, Appellant

is unable to even provide to the Court what type of legal document should be considered when analyzing and weighing its validity.

Appellant relies on *Regions Bank v. Schmauch* as precedent in an attempt to lend credence to the document which she contends proves ownership of the subject dog of interest. *Regions* involved loans obtained through Regions Bank by a business owner that required a third-party co-signer. See *Regions Bank v. Schmauch* 582 S.E.2d 432, 354 S.C. 648 (2003). After the loan came due and the borrower did not pay, the bank sought to recover from the third-party co-signer on the balances owed. The co-signer alleged that while her signature was on the Guaranty Agreement, “she never intended to enter into an agreement for unlimited liability,” and further that she did not read the documents or inquire as to their meaning prior to signing them. *Id.* at 439, 662. The Court of Appeals held that a person who signs a contract or “other written document” cannot avoid the effect of the document by claiming he did not read it and further that, a person signing a document is responsible for reading the document and making sure of its contents. *Id.*

*Regions* and other cases cited by the *Regions* Court<sup>1</sup>, all of which involved “other written documents” pertained to very specific written instruments. In *Regions*, the in-question documents were Guaranty Agreements. In *Evans v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, the document was a written release. In *Sims vs. Tyler*, the in-question document was a deed. Not only are these all documents which, on their face, have a binding legal effect but, they were also found by their respective Courts to be contracts.

Coming back to Appellant’s failure to identify the “type” of document Appellant contends the “New Client Form” to be, Appellant never specifically states the document in question is a

---

<sup>1</sup> See *Regions Bank* at 440, 663 “A person who signs a contract or other written document cannot avoid the effect of the document by claiming he did not read it.” citing *Sims v. Tyler*, 276 S.C. 640, 643, 281 S.E.2d 229, 230 (1981); *Evans v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 269 S.C. 584, 587, 239 S.E.2d 76, 77 (1977).

contract. When properly analyzing *Regions* and applying to the case at hand, an enforceable contract must first be found to exist for Appellant's arguments to even apply. Appellant further contends that the Court "need not speculate as to what Decedent's intentions were, because they are expressly stated in his own handwriting in a document that he signed." (*See* Initial Brief of Appellant, R. \_\_\_\_). The issue with this is that the document in question is nothing more than a form that was filled out when Decedent brought his dog to a new veterinarian. Appellant is now trying to transmute this document into a binding contract.

A contract exists where there is an agreement between two or more people upon sufficient consideration either to do or not to do a particular act. *Benya v. Gamble*, 282 S.C. 624, 628, 321 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1984). There must be an offer and an acceptance accompanied by valuable consideration. *Regions Bank* at 439, 661. A contract only arises when there is an actual agreement by the parties in which the parties demonstrate a mutual intent to be bound. *Electro-Lab of Aiken, Inc. v. Sharp Constr. Co. of Sumter*, 357 S.C. 363, 369, 593 S.E.2d 170, 173 (2004).

In order to have a valid and enforceable contract, there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to *all* essential and material terms of the agreement. *Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891, 893 (1989). The "meeting of minds" required to make a contract is not based on secret purpose or intention on the part of one of the parties, stored away in his mind and not brought to the attention of the other party, but must be based on purpose and intention which has been made known or which, from all the circumstances, should be known. *Id.* For a contract to be binding, material terms cannot be left for future agreement. *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 568, 578, 762 S.E.2d 696, 701 (2014). Regardless of intent, an agreement which leaves open material terms is unenforceable. *Id.* A court cannot enforce a contract unless it can determine what it is. It is not enough that the parties think that they have

made a contract. They must have expressed their intentions in a manner that is capable of being understood. *Id.*

Appellant's reliance on *Regions Bank v. Schmauch* is misplaced and is an attempt to utilize language she deems favorable in a fact pattern which in no way applies to the present case. The "New Client Form" is unambiguously not a contract. This document never constituted an agreement between Decedent and Appellant. The basic and necessary elements for the formation of a contract do not exist. On its face, this document does not represent Appellant and Decedent demonstrating that they came to an agreement to mutually be bound to terms concerning the ownership of the subject dog of interest. There was no consideration, offer, or acceptance and it cannot be proven because this document was not executed between the parties. This was a document filled out for a third party, in an effort to provide contact information and authorization for Appellant to take the dog to the veterinarian.

In the Magistrate Court's *Amended Order in Response to Defendant's Motion to Amend Judgment*, the Magistrate finds, "The decedent's action of identifying the Defendant as co-owner on the West Ashley Veterinarian clinic form does not suffice to prove transfer of ownership. As stated in my Order: *As testified to by Evie's veterinary office, for routine visits to be accepted by someone other than the actual owner of the dog, they must appear on veterinary forms so the veterinary office itself is relived of liabilities that come with treating someone's animal without the owner's consent.*" (See Magistrate's Return of Civil Appeal, Exhibit 11, R. \_\_\_\_)(emphasis added).

Even arguing that Appellant believed that a contract was formed does not hold up. Appellant's belief cannot be supported by any competent evidence. The intentions of the parties are not clear from this document as, again, it was not a document executed between the parties. There is testimony that supports that Decedent would have taken the step of listing Appellant on the form

to provide Appellant with the means to take the dog to the veterinarian. However, without Decedent available, there is no way to articulate his intent and therefore a contract cannot be inferred.

The Magistrate did, however, allow Appellant to testify as to interactions with Decedent over objections of Respondents and ultimately found that “*the facts in this case do not suggest at any point that Decedent was seeking to relinquish ownership of the property...*” (See Magistrate’s Return of Civil Appeal, Exhibit 11, R. \_\_\_)(emphasis added).

Accordingly, the Circuit Court correctly held that the “New Client Form” did not prove that Appellant gifted or otherwise transferred co-ownership of the subject dog of interest to Appellant during his lifetime.

II. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE “NEW CLIENT FORM” IS IMPERMISSIBLE HEARSAY.

At the final trial in Magistrate’s Court, Respondents objected to the admission of hearsay statements contained within the West Ashley Veterinary Clinic New Client Form, which was ultimately admitted at trial as Appellant’s Exhibit 1 (See Magistrate’s Return of Civil Appeal, R. \_\_\_).

During the hearing, Respondents argued that the hearsay statements of Decedent elicited through the testimony of Appellant should have been excluded on the basis that Decedent was unavailable pursuant to Rule 804 (a) SCRE and no permissible exception applied to admit the statements under Rule 804 SCRE or another rule of evidence. It is of note that the Final Order issued by the Magistrate Court expounds that both the hearsay statements of Decedent contained within the West Ashley Veterinary Clinic form and the hearsay statement of Decedent elicited through the testimony of Appellant should have been properly excluded. (See Magistrate’s Return of Civil Appeal, Exhibit 11, R. \_\_\_).

Respondents concede that the appropriate foundation was laid at the Magistrate's trial through the testimony of the West Ashely Veterinary Practice Manager's testimony for the physical admission of the document as an exception to the hearsay rule pursuant to Rule 803(6) SCRE. Nonetheless, Rule 803(6) further provides that a business record can be admitted in the regular practice of business activities, "provided, however, that subjective opinions and judgements found in business records are not admissible."

As previously mentioned in Section I. above, the veterinary office testified that the business practices of their office required that any individual other than the owner who may present with the dog for routine visits or other treatment be listed on the form, mostly for the veterinary office's own liability purposes. There was no testimony from the veterinary office that it was ever directly conveyed to them that Decedent's intent of listing Appellant on this form had anything to do with transfer of ownership. While the business record exception may apply for the admittance of the document itself, there is no basis for admitting this document for purposes of proof of ownership, as that is purely subjective.

Appellant argues that Rule 804(a)(4) and 804(b)(3) of South Carolina Rules of Evidence provide the exception to the hearsay rule to allow the disputed testimony and evidence to be admitted and considered. Appellant believes that by making this argument, it will give levity to her being listed as "co-owner" on the "New Client Form". (*See* Initial Brief of Appellant, R. \_\_\_) This is misguided. Appellant's argument that by listing Appellant on the "New Client Form" as "co-owner" of the dog Decedent intended to make a conveyance of ownership amounts to hearsay within hearsay, for which these hearsay exceptions simply do not apply.

Rule 805 SCRE does provide that "hearsay included within hearsay is not excluded under the hearsay rule if each part of the combined statements conforms with an exception to the hearsay

rule.” However, hearsay within hearsay, or “double hearsay” is excluded when each part of the combined statement fails to fall within an exception to the hearsay rule. *Wilson v. Childs*, 315 S.C. 431, 439, 434 S.E.2d 286, 291 (1993).

The April 5, 2023 Order issued by the Circuit Court delineates:

“This Court specifically finds that two things considered by the Magistrate Court was in error during the original trial by admitting evidence and testimony proffered by the Appellant which constitute impermissible hearsay. The Magistrate Court allowed the Submission [of] testimony and evidence by the Appellant, over counsel for Respondent’s contemporaneous objections, which make this issue proper for review. First, the “New Client” document which Appellant contends is proof that the Decedent gifted or otherwise transferred co-ownership of the subject dog and property at issue, Evie, should not have been admitted or considered by the Magistrate Court. Second, testimony from Appellant at the trial regarding [the] conversation she had with the Decedent prior to his death regarding ownership of the subject dog and property at issue, Evie, should not have been admitted or considered by the Magistrate Court. In both instances, the Magistrate Court erred in allowing the admission of the evidence and testimony as both constitute impermissible hearsay pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Evidence 804 as Decedent was an unavailable witness and there was no exception which could be applied to permit the evidence and testimony into the record. ***Had the New Client document and Appellant’s testimony been properly excluded by the trial court there would be no facts in the record which could stand to support Respondent’s ownership claim of Evie, thus, rendering her claim(s) meritless.***” (Order on Appeal from Final Order of Magistrate, R. \_\_\_)(Emphasis added).

At the time of the Magistrate’s final trial, the “New Client Form” was initially admitted into evidence. (Magistrate’s Return of Civil Appeal, R. \_\_\_). The Court had the opportunity to review its contents and hear all of the testimony related to the same. It was not until after a Motion to Reconsider was filed and Memorandums were submitted to the Court that the Magistrate issued an Amended Order in which the Magistrate opined that it should not have been admitted. (Magistrate’s Return of Civil Appeal, Exhibit 11, R. \_\_\_). The reality is that the weight of this document did not and would not change the Magistrate’s determination. As to the Circuit Court, this document was entered into evidence at trial and therefore was submitted as part of the Magistrate’s Record, also providing the Circuit Court the opportunity to review the document and its contents and make its’

own determination. Regardless of whether the lower court erred in finding this document inadmissible, it would still amount to harmless error.

No definite rule of law governs [a finding of harmless error]; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 448, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011) (internal citation omitted). The document was admitted to evidence, was available to the Courts for review and was ultimately not the basis for the Court's determination. While the lower court did opine that without the "New Client Form" Appellant's claim was effectively meritless, ultimately the Court's reasoning for granting possession of Evie to Respondents was based upon the lack of any legally binding document effecting the same, as well as the intestacy laws of this state.

As the statements pertaining to the ownership of the dog do not fall within any hearsay exceptions, the "double-hearsay" makes the "New Client Form" inadmissible in entirety. The lower court correctly ruled that this document amounted to impermissible hearsay. Regardless, the evidence was still admitted and considered by the Court and the contents of the same would not have impacted the final order of the Court. Accordingly, if the lower court did err in finding that this document was impermissible hearsay that should not have been offered into evidence, it amounts to harmless error.

III. THE LOWER COURTS CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE DECEDENT DIED  
INTESTATE AND THAT, AS SOLE HEIRS TO DECEDENT'S ESTATE,  
RESPONDENTS WERE AND ARE THE RIGHTFUL OWNERS OF THE SUBJECT  
DOG OF INTEREST.

The Magistrate's Final Order opines, "based on the evidence presented, *this Court finds that there was no valid agreement as to the transfer of ownership of Evie upon the demise of Decedent. It is indisputable that Decedent died intestate with no will in place that presumably would have*

*contained the Decedent's intent including any agreement as to the future ownership of Evie."* (Magistrate's Return of Civil Appeal, Exhibit 8, R. \_\_\_)(emphasis added).

The Magistrate goes on to say, "As Decedent died intestate, the Court finds that S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-103 prevails: *The part of the intestate estate not passing to the surviving spouse under Section 62-2-102, or the entire estate (2) if there is no surviving issues, to his parent or parents equally.... [Appellant's] representation that Decedent had intended for [Appellant] to come into possession of Evie upon his untimely death, without a will or codicil cannot be proven. Furthermore, representation on a form from the Veterinary Clinic does not suffice to prove ownership.*" (Magistrate's Return of Civil Appeal, Exhibit 8, R. \_\_\_)(emphasis added).

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